

5
January 1st 1852

Thursday, 1st I commenced the new year with a ride; Mr Safford came down quite early with me - they were anxious I should come to Mr Howard's to dinner today, as they were to have turkey but I chose to spend it at home; before noon Caroline & I went down to the village, found David getting better - got my books of Mr Storey 1 doz. S. Arithmetics at \$2 per doz. & 2 for Express - the Physiologies were not sent through some mistake in the order - When we came home found H. Mum here; Daniel came for her after tea

Friday, 2nd A pleasant day, I drove down in the morning - visited to Mr Howard's met his lady & her daughters, Mrs C. Smith & Mrs M. Boice & all night long;

Saturday 2^d Came home at night - found Caroline
.. + baby quite sick of colds &c. very busy nursing
them.

Sabbath 4th My whole attention has been taken
up in taking care of our sick - they seem bet-
ter tonight.

Monday 5th Snowed some last night. Caroline is
~~as~~ much better that I went to my school
but came home at night - not so well quite tonight.

Tuesday 6th Caroline was not so well this morning &
I was very sorry to leave her but must -
I have been most sick all day myself, but had
to keep going. Found a letter here from my
dearest Linda, when I came home tonight. Oh
if she knew how much good it does me to get
a letter from her dear hand, she would write
me oftener, I am sure. Spent the evening in
finishing a letter I had commenced to her.

Wednesday 7th A very windy morning - the snow
being so much drifted that I could not get off
to school. Quite busy all day cooking & nursing
the sick &c. Spent the evening in writing to
Mc Chesney.

Thursday 8th A fine day - in the evening
base carried me down to the village &
mailed letters as follows: to Linda to Cole
& to Mrs McCasney. David was not quite
so well tonight

Friday 9th A snowy day but I went home at night

Saturday 10th A pleasant day. Caroline has
got quite smart again. I am about sick
with a cold & the face ache

Sabbath 11th A snowy day - I have been
sick abed all day

Monday 12th Base carried me up to school
in the morning. Mr Thomas invited me
to go to the lectures on Chemistry, by C. L.
Bourne, but as it was so late when
school was out, I went to Mr Safford's &
rode over with them. The lecture was
quite good, though nothing new at all -
subject was the properties of Carbon & its gas
& the distinction between Acids & Alkalies
& bases which form salts &c. &c. an
abstract of which I will write in my lecture
book on Chemistry. I went home with Mr Thomas

mans

5

Tuesday 13th. An invitation to Mr. Stone
which I accepted - very pleasant people.

Wednesday 14th Mr. Edward Gouman visits
at me at my school this afternoon - he
seemed pleased to renew an acquaintance
which has so long been broken off - I
was but a child of eleven years old when
we were at school at Stillwater Acad.
yet he seemed to recollect me perfectly.
I have just been examining a Chemistry
he has published - I like it very much -
he proposes sending a copy as my own
I shall have a class in it &c. Mr. G.
pitched me an invitation from Mrs. Th.
to go there with him to tea &c; met with
his sister, Miss Ann Eliza Gouman
at Mr. W. She is a teacher in N. C.
city - I like her very much - a pleasant
girl - never had a pleasanter visit with
comparative strangers. In the evening
I went over to the lecture with them
subject - union of oil with an alkali

16
Thursday 13th A snowy day - went to
Mr Safford from school, from there to
the lecture & then home with Mr's
people. Amelia Middlebrooks is visiting here.
Mr Thomas fetched me a letter from the
P.O. from friend Ann G. - I was in
hopes it would be from Cinda, yet I
was pleased to hear from Ann - She
is really a dear good girl. The lecture
was on the union of Chemistry with
Physiology illustrated by numerous drawings
made by his sister - had a good visit
with her again &c. Carpenter's Phy-
-iology is a large English work commencing
with the vegetable kingdom, then the animal
with the very lowest order & so up to man -
the highest.

Friday 14th School small - closed for the
week. A stormy night rode down to Mr Thomas's
with G. Benton. In the evening William Spier
fetched me home.

January 17, 18. 19

9. At 11.00. P.M. rode out. as
down to the mill. I did come home
with me. It first has been out along
consequence. Got my ⁵⁰ physiologies for my
school. ~~Mr~~ ^{Mr} ~~Ward~~ ^{Ward} sent me some ~~Chemists~~
for my school one for myself. ~~Mr~~

Sabbath 18th stormy day. Spent at home etc.

Monday 19th A stormy morning. On my way
to school I stopped at Mr ~~Ward~~ ^{Ward} to see if
they wanted a teacher in this district, as Mr
Know has left. I have it my mind to propose
to them to apply to Linda to take this school.
Called at Mr ~~Ward~~ ^{Ward} too. he seemed quite anx-
-ious about it & said they would apply, that is
if there was no hope of their getting me to
take it in the spring. I assured him he
might be sure I would not, & I went on
any account if there is a possibility of
Linda's coming; but that's all uncertainty.

Mariette King came home with me
at night.

January 20th, 21st, 22nd, 23rd
Tuesday 20th A very cold day. Came home
at night. No news. Spent the evening writing.
Wednesday 21st At evening I called at Mr. Bartholomew's
to see about school again - nothing very
favorable about it as he thinks they better
not have any more school till spring on account
of so much sickness among the scholars &c.
Mailed two letters, one to Linda & one to Ann.

Thursday 22nd A windy, tedious day.

Friday 23rd Went home at night &
found a Mr. Green here from Westchester
he is trying to trace out the pedigree of the
Wood family as there is a great fortune
of thirty million dollars which has fallen to
the family by one Clement Wood, a son
of Stephen Wood &c. but I guess it's all
gas

Saturday 23rd A fine day - Coz D. & I rode
out, he stopped at Mr. Mann's. I went
to the village.

Sabbath 24th Spent the day home.

Monday 25th A snow morning. Grass carried
up to school. I went to "the house" at
night &c.

Tuesday 26th A pleasant day. In the afternoon Mr
Geo. Taylor called to see me about Miss
Gregory teaching this school, as they had made
up that they were anxious to get her & he
wished me to write her on this subject but
would name but \$15 per month & that
him I would have nothing to do with such
an offer; that they were able to pay more for
such a teacher & that it was but an imposition
to her & more especially since they were at
this very time willing to pay me \$25 per
month while Miss Gregory was far superior to
me in every respect; this plea was that
she was a stranger & that all in the district
could not be made to understand what they had
not tried - finally to wind up the matter I told
him their better way would be to ~~let~~ consult
the people more generally & make up what

10
they would offer her a very high bid & then I would write to, he assented & left proposing to let me know the result on Thursday. I went to Mr. Cofford at night, little Thomas is very sick; Dr. Freeman came at evening & stayed all night.

Wednesday 27th I shall stay at Mr. Cofford when I can be of any use - Set up tonight with Thomas; he is very sick Dr. call it inflammation of the lungs. Mrs. Daniel spent the day here.

Thursday 28th A warm day; snow melting fast.

Just after school was out Mr. W. Howard came in to invite me to go to the donation visit at Elder Gurr's; I declined at first but finally had to consent to get rid of him! Had a delightful time; met Miss Tommons again. Horace Hendrie is home, I never saw so great an improvement in any person in my life, he is really a gentleman in appearance. Wesley Steves too was there, both used to be my scholars. Wesley has been teaching & would like this school now, but.

Mr. D. Kimb carried me home from donation rather later than I intended to be out.

Friday 29th A snowy day. In the P.M. Mr & Mrs
Thomas came to visit my school. Isaac came
for me as expected. Martha Taylor is at Mr
Safford's to take care of Thomas or I should have
stayed. Received an application from Mr C
Hilmore to teach the school at Rock City. Dr
Hewitt introduced him to me & accompanied
his application by a very elaborate recommendation
I told them perhaps I would not teach a district
school, they then proposed to aid me in getting
up a select school &c &c. On telling Mr Safford
about it, he seemed very urgent I should not
engage as they were making great reckoning on
having me teach there & said I must not think
of engaging any where till they had had the first
chance to see what they could do for me - as
far as he & Mr Thomas were concerned money
was no object if it only secured the teacher
they wanted. Mr Hilmore also expressed the
same; now I am in a box & which way to
decide I can't tell

12
Saturday 30th A snowy, unpleasant day, but we
went to the village: traded at the new
Union Store - they really go it cheap - goods
we purchased came at a reduction of 40 per cent
quite a difference. I bought some more
books for my school - tried to find some
tubes so I could commence a course of
experiments in Chemistry; but could find none
& so had to give it up. Saw Mr. Powell,
who I attacked me again about taking this
school for the summer, he says they can't
give it up no way but that. I must teach
here & wished me to write to Miss Gregory
to exchange with me & she teach where I
now am - oh dear they will tease me to death
I am heartily tired of this, "you must give us
the first chance", "you must teach our school,
& money is no object to us, if you will only teach
our school" &c. &c.!! here I am in the midst
of three applications; & each feeling that I must
accept them; now what to do I can't tell. I
mailed a letter to Linda about coming here
oh how I do hope she may think it best to come

How happy I should be could I believe she would & yet I dare not urge it much for fear she might not enjoy herself here, or might miss some better opportunity & then I should reproach myself severely, for I feel as though I never could forgive myself for the unhappiness I have already caused her & God knows my heart, I would not do any thing again to cause her pain in any way, yet I can't but hope she may come to venture, but I will try & be content for events to take their course & be willing to think all is for the best, let the result be what it may.

Sabbath Feb 1st Snowing yet, its very deep now, hope it'll stop soon, so no going out today at all.

Monday 2nd Wrote a letter to Sister Ann. A very fine heavy day, went to Mr Saffords: Mr & Mrs Seymour were there. Thomas is getting better: I stay all night.

Tuesday 3rd A very fine day; In the P. M. Emma Thomas came up. At night, I went home with the Gans.

Wednesday 4th A fine day again, Mr & Mrs Lee. Think called at Mr S. at evening.

14
Thursday 3rd A fine day again. Mr & Mrs Ligon
& Mrs Blake were here to Mr D's on a
visit.

Friday 6th A fine morning but commenced
snowing in the P.M. David & Elijah came
after me. Martha Chapman visited me
in the forenoon.

Saturday 7th ~~Very~~ but, very windy day.
David & I rode out: went to the Paper
mill; I got a quantity of paper for my
school. Called at the Spencers & the Nimses.

Sunday 8th A fine cool day. I don't get any letter
from Linda yet: its strange indeed - is
she getting in her old way of neglecting her
friend - I have now three letters to her
unanswered - if she knew how anxious I
am that she should come here as I have
written her, I ^{am} sure she would not delay so
but perhaps she waits to hear from Mr Stoddard
but if so she should let me know it at least
but probably she has some good reason for it
so I will try to be patient & hope for the best.

15

Monday 9th - Fine morning. David took me up; Charles J. had a letter for me which he took out of the P.O. on Friday here. I have been dreading about Cinda when she was not to blame. She writes favourably about coming here, but must wait till she hears from Bro. Stoddard. Oh how happy I shall be if she can come & enjoy herself, yet I dare not even hope, much more anticipate the consummation of our long wished for dream. So we have been so many times disappointed. Invited to Mr. Stoddard's & meet Mrs. West & Mrs. Blake.

Tuesday 10th - A thorny day. Went to Mr. Starrs. Had a pleasant time. He seems very anxious I should engage here for a year, but I can't, nor will not, till I know for sure what Cinda is going to do. Saw Mr. Penfield. He first asked me if I could not be persuaded to teach the school on the Hill. I told him I would not. He thought they would give me

1/16

\$2.50 or \$3⁰⁰ but that's no object to me compared with having my dear friend Linda here & I can get more for her in that district than in the, so I would rather teach here for half what I could have her than to take the place from her.

Wednesday, 11th A rainy unpleasant day - went to Mr Howard's.

Thursday, 12th Rec'd. a letter from friend Ann she thinks it's doubtful about Linda's going to Bethany. I do really hope she will come here, not that I would wish her to be disappointed (if disappointment it would be) in going to Bethany, but if she had rather come here. I have happy I shall be to do all in my power to make it pleasant for her company at Mr Howard's - invited them to tea - met Mr & Mrs Whalen. Mrs Med. Mrs Young & Mrs Kilmore from Rock City, they still seem very anxious about my going there to work.

Friday 13th David came after me at night.
 some snow - no more letters -

Saturday 14th fine day. rode out, called at
 Mr. Vinces. Mr. Taylor & Mr. Spencer. Mr. Man
 inquires very anxiously after Mrs. Gregory.
 Mr. H. Benedict wants me to take the school
 at Factory village. oh dear when will they be
 done with teasing me.

Sabbath 15th - very fine day - not very well so
 did not go to church.

Monday 16th Went to Mr. Starn.

Tuesday 17th Went to Mr. Afford - they have been
 to Schenectady today. Heard of Mrs. Harris
 death (the old lady, Jergmish Mrs. widow) disease
 bilious pneumonia.

Wednesday 18th At night David came after & I
 set out for tomorrow to attend the funeral.

Thursday 19th Went to the funeral at 10 A.M.
 Rev. Mr. Gear of Belltown, an Episcopalian preached.
 Rec'd a letter from Linda; she will be
 here tomorrow.

Friday 20th Went up to school alone. David went

to the village after Linda, she came in by the morning train.

Saturday 21st - Spent the day with Linda: we all went down to the village in the morning. In the evening Messrs Partholamen & Penfield came here to see Linda - great offer! come & banter her about ~~images~~ wages, after having written her that they would pay her \$20 per month - they will get themselves in a box if they dont look out. I went to bed & took a sweat after I got home from the village.

Sabbath 22nd - Some better today than I was yesterday, but my lungs are very sore.

Monday 23rd - I was so unwell & our folks said ~~too~~ much I gave up going to my school; am very sorry but sickness can't be helped. Mr Penfield came in the evening, engaged Linda.

Tuesday 24th - Felt some better so went up to school: a warm, heavy day, came home at night, sleeping poor.

Wednesday 25th - Not able to go to my school.

Thursday 25th I have given up school for the week & stay
at home - spent the time preparing maps for
my school.

Friday 27th Day as usual

Saturday 28th A snowy day; very tired drawing.

Sabbath 29th A tremendous windy night, & now a snow
windy day - drifted & no stirring.

Monday March 1st So drifted I could not go up
to school. Cinda commenced her school
today: with 24 scholars; I spent the day & even
at Mr Nimses, calling at Mr Marks: Cinda
spent the evening with me at Mr. Nimses

Tuesday 2nd A snowy cold morning. David
carried me up to school: went to Mr Howara
at night: he is at me again about teaching
the school next summer & I finally told
him I would take it for five dollars per week

Wednesday 3rd A delightful day. ^{at} the P.M.
Mr. Dimeon Arnold & Cady & M & D. Kim
came to visit me & get my to go home
with them. I was quite happy to do so!
They expected Cinda to be there but

she had gone home so Mr Arnold
 fetched me over & Linda & David
 went over to Mr N's with one after
 tea. Jane Truman & brother were
 there, also W. Stevis & a Miss L. Lay
 from the village.

Thursday 4th A pleasant day, I drove up
 myself & came home at night.

Friday 5th A snowy morning, but teachers
 would go, storm or no storm so we
 turned out. At noon Mr Kilmore
 came again to know about my taking
 the school at Rock City. I told him
 I was engaged, he seemed very sorry,
 I proposed to him to apply to Mrs
 Green, he accordingly authorised
 me to write her asking if she would
 come & for what wages: went home
 at night & mailed a letter to Ann.
 Before I went to bed I received a letter from
 her, giving encouragement that she would
 come here to teach if a good situation offered

1
Saturday 6th - I have no school, so visited Fide in
the A.M. She seems getting along finely. After
school we rode down to the village & received a
letter from Ch. L.

Sabbath 7th - A delightful day, fine sleighing &c.
Cinda & I rode over to Church

Monday 8th - A pleasant day, but they spent the eve-
~~ning~~ at Mr. Merriam's with Cinda & Caroline. ^{David}
came home today.

Tuesday 9th - The sleighing is getting very thin.
Received an invitation to a turkey dinner
to Mr. Howards: also an invite to the
closing singing school at West Milton: ^{with} Cinda
& I went in a load of some 10 or 12. to Kings
& W. Slaves proprietors!!

Wednesday 10th - Traveling very bad & so I closed
up my school for the season

Thursday 11th - A splendid day. A sad ^{accident}
on the hill, Mr. Hall's little boy got his leg
broken riding down hill.

Friday 12th - I walked over to Cinda's ^{school}
in the A.M. Called at Mr. Truman

4 Mr Nimrod. Old Mr Sampson was buried today. Jane Truman visited the school with me in the P. M. rode home with Mr Taylor in a stage.

Saturday 13th A low day. Cinda spent the day home, quite busy ~~working~~ etc.

Sunday 14th A rising day - mud, mud!

Monday 15th A rainy morning: carried Cinda over to school. Mr Howard called to see me about teaching their school again, I engaged for the summer at \$5 per week. Had board at home. Went after Cinda at night; she received a letter from Ann saying she thought of staying at Bethany another year or longer. Could not come to Ballston; I regret it very much but since it seems very much for her interest to stay there I of course cannot blame her or rather wish her to do otherwise.

Tuesday 16th A pleasant day; sent a note to Mr Helm, which will disappoint their plans about school.

March 17-18

Wednesday 17th. Made out ~~my~~ list
+ sent it by Isaac who was going to
from Charles' house. I taught 26 days
being ~~for~~ ~~at~~ ~~the~~ ~~month~~. 11 of 24
= 13 of which I can receive for my
my ~~work~~ work.

Thursday 18th. In evening I went to see
some leaf I wanted to copy. I was
but the going was a failure. Turned back.
Sent word to Mr. Holmes that I could
not come there to teach.

Friday 19th. Received a letter from Mr. Miller
at 4 o'clock. Found I had ^{written} to
to come here to teach. I am ~~very~~ glad
not come but am sorry we have sent
word to Mr. Holmes that you will have
engaged another teacher. I can
get them word. Sent a note to Mr. Miller
this evening, but no answer. ^{about} I will
it will send let us know tomorrow.

Saturday 20th. No word from Mr. Miller. I
sent a note today. He had been out near Isaac
& Caroline went to business. I did come up with them

Sabbath 21st Instead going to go to church
Monday 22nd ^{me} I carried ~~the~~ down to the
village - went in a cutter being a light
fall of snow last night. Marietta Sims
came home with me & spent the day & night
commenced working me a pair of shoes.
Mr George Wild of Rock City called to
see me about Ann teaching there. They
accepted the proposition that she would
teach for four dollars per week & board
they would like her to commence the
middle of April. Wrote to Ann in the
evening.

Tuesday 23rd More snow, some ten inches deep
Elijah carried the girls over to middleline
& I rode along - snowing hard

Wednesday 24th A delightful day. Mr Hall went
to the home school. In the P.M. I went over
to Mr. Simms with ~~some~~ drive ~~of~~ ~~my~~ ~~own~~
Mrs G. C. Taylor was there, after school Linda
came in. Gave Taylor & spent the evening. ~~She~~
~~stayed~~ all night. ~~She~~ came after me over

March 25-26-27

Thursday 25th Another slight ride
 went down to the village with H. Kim
 she had her business to do. Linda will
 James Weather can see last Tuesday
 David came up with a mission the ship
 Mr. D. appears like a very fine gentleman
 I liked him much, left about 9 in
 the evening they left I sent Linda
 a letter to her mother in the
 Received a letter from C. Williams
 Friday 26th In the forenoon C. Thomas
 came here for me to help him about
 map drawing. In the P.M. Caroline
 & I went to Mrs. Johnsons on a visit
 & quite unexpectedly met Isaac Johnson
 from Bridgeport who is home during
 this vacation Linda closed for time
 indefinite, till the going gets good
 Slept about unrefreshed for the present,
 Saturday 27th A close day, not much
 getting about

March 28. 29. 30. 31. & April 1. 2. 3

Sabbath 28th A snowy day.

Monday 29th Spent the day sewing, writing etc.

Tuesday 30th Mailed a letter to E. Williams. D. Wood
came over in the evening to measure for my
cloth shoes.

Wednesday 31st Most sick with a cold.

Thursday April 1st Snow fell last night several inches
deep, quite sleeping again. Daniel W. fetched
Harriet over in the morning to take a ~~lesson in~~
~~map drawing~~. In the evening he fetched my
shoes - very nice, but quite too small, fit Kate
so she may have them & I will work me another
pair.

Friday 2nd We rec'd a note from Ann; their
School closed April 1st see

Saturday 3rd About sick. Mr. & Mrs. Wood spent
the day here. The snow is going off some.

Sabbath 4th A delightful day, but awful
traveling. My pony (Reg) got badly lamed
today from running in the snow: his left
fore leg seems sprained: poor little fellow
I hope it will be nothing serious.

Phil 5th 22

Monday 5th I feel better since Greys came
us cured - it proved to be caused by a nail in
the shoe which when drawn out removed the
trouble entirely. Isaac & Caroline went to the
springs. G. Palmer came to draw maps, worked all day

Tuesday 6th Town meeting day. For town Superintendant
of schools Thomas Osburn is elected. I think
this town has got to a pretty pass! David ca
up. Snowing all day; mud & snow mixed up to
gether.

Wednesday 7th I went down to the springs with
David in a sleigh; tipped over. Called at the

Thursday 8th It's mud! mud! so we must be
content to stay home

Friday 9th

Saturday 10

Sabbath 11th

Monday 12th

Tuesday 13th

Wednesday 14th

Thursday 15th

Friday 16th H. Woods wife has a son at 3 P.M.

Spent the time home, no
news of consequence. Snow &
mud! mud & snow!

Saturday 17th A delightful day: Maria
Middlebrook visited me in the afternoon.
Mr. Beecher was here to tea. G. Powell had a card
today. Just after Maria left; Mr. Keddy
drove up with Professor J. S. Stoddard &
cons. David. Prof. S. is now Principal of the
"Northern University of Penna." at Pithers, Wagon
He fetched us his Juvenile & Mental Arithmetic
three dozen of each, the first at 61. per doz
the others at \$ 1.75 per doz retail prices are
\$ 1.50 & 3. per doz. Prof. written Arithms were
all sold out so that he could fetch but one
copy. I like it much what I have examined
it. he will send us 3. doz at \$ 3.75 per doz.

Sabbath 18th A windy, unpleasant day so we
stayed at home

Monday 19th Linda commenced her school
again today. David carried Prof. S. down to
take the car for New York is a very
windy, unpleasant day. Elyse went to the fish house

Tuesday 20th C. came down from Fish house with
Sam Auburns family who are going to live in
our house. Very cold & high winds & I drove over

24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645
646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834
835
836
837
838
839
840
841
842
843
844
845
846
847
848
849
850
851
852
853
854
855
856
857
858
859
860
861
862
863
864
865
866
867
868
869
870
871
872
873
874
875
876
877
878
879
880
881
882
883
884
885
886
887
888
889
890
891
892
893
894
895
896
897
898
899
900
901
902
903
904
905
906
907
908
909
910
911
912
913
914
915
916
917
918
919
920
921
922
923
924
925
926
927
928
929
930
931
932
933
934
935
936
937
938
939
940
941
942
943
944
945
946
947
948
949
950
951
952
953
954
955
956
957
958
959
960
961
962
963
964
965
966
967
968
969
970
971
972
973
974
975
976
977
978
979
980
981
982
983
984
985
986
987
988
989
990
991
992
993
994
995
996
997
998
999
1000

Fetches Linda home.

Wednesday 2nd Very high wind, with showers & ~~it~~ dipped candles, some 2 & down.

Anna Slocum came here in the morning & stayed all night.

Thursday 2nd A showery day. Caroline & Isaac went over to the store (N. Young's) Anna went over to N. Manns. Linda stayed at G. C. Taylor's all night, as also last night.

Friday 2nd Cloudy, windy & muddy! Linda came home tonight tired out almost.

Saturday 2nd Linda had no school today & we have been looking for Ann all day, as she has written she would come this morning. Isaac went down to meet her but we were doomed to disappointment. Linda is very worried, I am sorry for her, but hope for the best. David came up with him & returned again to look for Ann. But she came not.

Here endeth my journal till July.

A chapter of events I can best recall them as they occurred between ^{April} ~~March~~ 25th & July 19th. Tuesday 27th In the morning I drove up to my district, called at Mrs Thomas, Dufford & Howards. Mr. H. paid me my school bill. (\$44.) On returning I found Ann at the school house. She came up in the stage. In the P.M. we drove over to Rock City, called at Mr. Woods. During the week we rode around considerable. Monday May 3rd Commenced my school, also Ann. I had about 18 the first day my number finally increasing to 22 I receive \$ five per week. drive home every night & see.

Towards the last of June Mrs. Hester Wood of New York visited us, came up in company with a Mr. Floy & came Saturday & left Monday. John Taylor left for the west the same week & see.

~~James~~ left home for a tour west & returned July 18th.

Cynthia Nash arrived here on a visit July 2nd. David bought him a gold watch of the stock of Dags which are being sold off by his assignees. (\$ 25)

July 17th Cynthia came down from Calvary with Cy Wood. David fetched Ann down from R. city.

July 18th Mr Boston preached over to the school house all went but Cynthia & me.

July 19th A pleasant day but very cool. David carried Ann up to school. I rode over to the middleless Dr. St. John called to settle our air bills: paid him \$10 & took a receipt in full.

21st Wednesday, Cynthia set out for home; Ann carried her to Schenectady & she will be thro' to Lockport by 8 or 9 in the evening.

20th Tuesday, Cinda & I went to G. W. Taylors per invitation, to tea.

Thursday 22nd Spent the day home, sick abed with Lead ache.

Friday 23rd Caroline & David went to the village. I rode out in the P.M. called at Mr Kings when school was I fetched Cinda & Marietta home with me! after tea David carried her back &c.

December 29th 1852 Daniel M. Kins married
last evening to Louisa Maria Lane. This
evening we are invited to the party at
Mr. Kinses. Attended, had a pleasant
time &c &c

I went to New York with Betty

37
Frances A. Woods
Journal commencing

January 1. st 1853.

Jan. 1. st A dull gloomy New year's day: dark & rainy. ~~Our~~ family just now consists of Isaac & Caroline, Binda, & Helen Eighmy who came home with us two weeks ago today: & ~~Elizabeth~~ Coleman & Edward. David has been at the village nearly all the week past. We mailed a letter yesterday to Cornish Lamport & Co relative to those books ordered by Prof. Stoddard. In the P.M. Binda & I rode down to the village: the rain is over & is freezing fast: quite cold.

2. nd A delightful day. Binda & I rode over to church: the singers were seated in the gallery for the first time.